FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
2/29/2024 4:18 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/1/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. <u>102842-3</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

v.

CHRISTOPHER MICHAEL CRUMP, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III Court of Appeals No. 38963-4-III Walla Walla County Superior Court No. 21-1-00238-36

STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

GABRIEL ACOSTA Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL SUTTON Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366

SERVIC

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is the State of Washington. The answer is filed by Walla Wall County Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Randall Sutton.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision in *State v. Crump*, No. 38963-4-III (Jan. 30, 2024), in which the Court held that the information did not include all the elements of the offense of possession of a motor vehicle, specifically, knowledge. No motion for reconsideration was filed. A copy of the Court's decision is attached as Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the decision of this Court in *State v. Porter*, 186 Wn.2d 85, 375 P.3d 664 (2016), which held that definitional terms of the crime

of possession of a stolen motor vehicle are not elements of the offense that must be included in the information?

2. Whether, if the information omitted an element, this Court should revisit the holding *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 104, 812 P.2d 86 (1991), as applied to claims raised for the first time on appeal, which under RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4) presents a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and of the United States, and an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher Crump was charged in Count I with possession of a stolen motor vehicle, and in Counts II and III, with malicious mischief. CP 38. A jury found Crump guilty on Counts I and II and acquitted him of Count III. CP 69; 5RP 422. The court imposed a standard range sentence.

On appeal, Crump argued for the first time that the

information omitted the element of knowledge. App., at 3. Citing its prior decision in *State v. Level*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 56, 60, 493 P.3d 1230 (2021), the court concluded that knowledge was an nonstatutory element of the crime of possessing a stolen motor vehicle. App., at 4. The court therefore reversed Crump's conviction and remanded for dismissal without prejudice. App., at 4. ¹

V. ARGUMENT

A. CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW SET FORTH IN RAP 13.4(B) SUPPORT ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published

¹ The facts of the offense are not germane to the issues raised herein but are set forth in the opinion below. App., at 1-2.

decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals because the first, third and fourth criteria are met.

B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S ON-POINT HOLDING IN STATE V. PORTER.

Crump argued for the first time on appeal that the information alleging possession of a stolen motor vehicle (PSMV) was constitutionally insufficient. The Court of Appeals agreed and reversed. But the case on which Crump and the Court of Appeals relied is directly contrary to the prior holding of this Court. The Court should accept review to resolve this conflict.

An information is constitutionally sufficient "if all

essential elements of a crime, statutory and nonstatutory, are included in the document." *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995).

When, as here, the information is challenged for the first time on appeal, the charging document will be construed quite liberally. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 105, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). The primary purpose of the essential element rule is "to apprise the accused of the charges against him or her and to allow the defendant to prepare a defense." *Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d at 787, 888 P.2d 1177. If the State fails to allege every essential element, then the information is insufficient and the charge must be dismissed without prejudice. *Nonog*, 169 Wn.2d at 226 n.3.

Here, the information charged Crump in Count I with possession of a stolen motor vehicle:

Count 1: That the said Christopher Michael Crump in the County of Walla Walla, State of Washington, on or about September 15, 2021, did

unlawfully possess a stolen motor vehicle, to-wit: 1994 Ford Escort, the property of Stephan R. Hansell.

CP 38 (emphasis in original).

Relying on *State v. Level*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 56, 63, 493 P.3d 1230 (2021), the Court of Appeals held that this language was insufficient because it did not include the alleged "nonstatutory" element of "knowingly." However, *Level* failed to address this Court's holding in *State v. Porter*, 186 Wn.2d 85, 375 P.3d 664 (2016). Because *Level* was contrary to an onpoint holding of this Court, this court below should have followed *Porter* rather than *Level*, and found Crump's information sufficient.

In *Porter*, as here, the defendant was charged with PSMV. The statute reads:

A person is guilty of possession of a stolen vehicle if he or she possess [possesses] a stolen motor vehicle.

RCW 9A.56.068(1) (alteration in RCW). Porter argued that the

information was deficient because it did not contain the statutory definition of "possess," which is found in a separate statute, RCW 9A.56.140. This is relevant in the present case because the alleged nonstatutory element of knowledge is part of the definition of "possess" found in RCW 9A.56.140(1):

"Possessing stolen property" means *knowingly* to receive, retain, possess, conceal, or **d**ispose of stolen property *knowing* that it has been stolen and to withhold or appropriate the same to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto.

(Emphasis supplied).

At issue in *Porter* was whether RC W 9A.56.140 "merely define[d] the essential element of 'possession' or instead provide[d] an additional essential element the State must allege when charging a criminal defendant with possession of a stolen motor vehicle." *Porter*, 186 Wn.2d at 90. This Court concluded that RCW 9A.56.140 merely defined the element and therefore did not need to be included in the information:

Contrary to Porter's argument, the State was not

required to include the definition of "possess." Like the definition of "restrain," the definition of "possess" defines and limits the scope of the essential elements of the crime of unlawful possession of a stolen motor vehicle.

Porter, 186 Wn.2d at 91.

Although the information in *Porter* did include the term "knowingly," 186 Wn.2d at 88, the Court's opinion nevertheless makes clear that that word did not need to be included:

The fact that "possession" is more precisely defined in a way that might vindicate someone who unwittingly possesses the stolen property and thus does not withhold it from the true owner does not add to the essential elements of RCW 9A.56.068. Instead, it limits and defines the scope of the essential element, which the State is not required to allege under Johnson.

Porter, 186 Wn.2d at 92 (emphasis the Court's). In view of the foregoing, it is clear that *Level* is contrary to this Court's holding in *Porter*, and should not have been followed. Because under *Porter* the information in this case included all essential elements, the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the

information should be dismissed. Review should be granted to correct the error and clarify the essential elements of PSMV.

C. AS APPLIED TO CLAIMS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, KJORSVIK IS INCORRECT AND HARMFUL AND SHOULD BE RECONSIDERED.

If this Court determines that the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law, then this Court should reconsider its holding in *Kjorsvik*, which is both incorrect and harmful. As will be shown, this is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and involves an issue of substantial public interest.

It is well settled that a constitutional right, or a right of any other sort, may be waived by the failure to assert it at trial. *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 731, 113 S. Ct. 1770, 123 L. Ed. 2d 508 (1993); *Yakus v. United States*, 321 U.S. 414, 444, 64 S. Ct. 660, 88 L. Ed. 834 (1944). Timely objection affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly on a

matter before it can be presented on appeal. *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013). There is great potential for abuse when a party does not raise an issue below because it encourages partied to simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The rule also serves the goal of judicial economy by enabling trial courts to correct mistakes and thereby obviate the needless expense of appellate review and further trials. *Strine*, 176 Wn.2d at 749-50; *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988).

The harshness of a blanket rule is ameliorated by the exception found in RAP 2.5(a)(3), which allows consideration for the first time on appeal of "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." Under this standard, defendants must show how the alleged error actually affected their rights. It is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error

"manifest," allowing appellate review. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2010); *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 688.

Despite the applicability of this formulation to most unpreserved constitutional claims, *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 109, 812 P.2d 86 (1991), chose a different path for unpreserved claims regarding the sufficiency of the charging document. Prior to that *Kjorsvik*, a claim that the charging document was insufficient could always be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Leach*, 113 Wn.2d 679, 691, 782 P.2d 552 (1989). The concurrence, however, expressed concerns that the rule could be abused:

I am disturbed, however, by the possibility that a defendant may be well aware at the outset of the proceedings that the charging document fails to state a crime, and yet maintain silence until appeal. When faced with the question whether an indictment sufficiently charges an offense, federal courts have held that "indictments which are tardily challenged are liberally construed in favor of validity."

Leach, 113 Wn.2d at 700 (Brachtenbach, J., concurring)

(quoting United States v. Pheaster, 544 F.2d 353, 361 (9th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1099 (1977). That concern was addressed in *Kjorsvik*, which concluded that a "different standard of review should be applied when no challenge to the charging document has been raised at or before trial because otherwise the defendant has no incentive to timely make such a challenge, since it might only result in an amendment or a dismissal potentially followed by a refiling of the charge." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 103.

But the rule in *Kjorsvik* has also failed to satisfy the rationale for which it was promulgated. It is therefore both incorrect and harmful. *See State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 864, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). The rule should be modified to subject claims regarding the sufficiency of the charging document to the same standard applied to most other constitutional errors raised for the first time on appeal.

Kjorsvik has been the rule in Washington for nearly 30

years. Yet in just the 15 years before the decision below, appellate courts have vacated 44 convictions. State v. Combs, 23 Wn. App. 2d 1005 (2022); State v. LaBounty, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1055 (2022); State v. Smith, 20 Wn. App. 2d 1068 (2022); Level, supra; State v. Briggs, 18 Wn. App. 2d 544, 492 P.3d 218 (2021); State v. Bacon, 16 Wn. App. 2d 603, 481 P.3d 1120 (2021); State v. Mullins, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1042 (2020); State v. Hugdahl, 195 Wn.2d 319, 458 P.3d 760 (2020); State v. Markham, 12 Wn. App. 2d 1026 (2020); State v. Pry, 194 Wn.2d 745, 452 P.3d 536 (2019); State v. Woodall, 8 Wn. App. 2d 1020 (2019); State v. Mellgren, 6 Wn. App. 2d 1035 (2018); State v. Torre, 6 Wn. App. 2d 1016 (2018); State v. Mendoza-Vera, 4 Wn. App. 2d 1074 (2018); State v. Holcomb, 200 Wn. App. 54, 401 P.3d 412 (2017); State v. Garcia, 199 Wn. App. 1031 (2017), review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1032 (2018); State v. Sullivan, 196 Wn. App. 314, 382 P.3d 736 (2016); State v. *McCrea*, 195 Wn. App. 1038 (2016); *State v. Tolentino-Cuevas*,

194 Wn. App. 1001 (2016); State v. Hernandez, 193 Wn. App. 1017 (2016), review granted and remanded, 187 Wn.2d 1001 (2017); State v. Tolman, 192 Wn. App. 1009, review granted and remanded, 186 Wn.2d 1008 (2016); State v. Nord, 188 Wn. App. 1032 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1003 (2016); State v. Gibson, 187 Wn. App. 1031 (2015); State v. Smith, 187 Wn. App. 1010 (2015); State v. Nord, 186 Wn. App. 1032, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1002 (2015); State v. Satterthwaite, 186 Wn. App. 359, 344 P.3d 738 (2015); State v. Jones, 184 Wn. App. 1059 (2014); State v. Floyd, 178 Wn. App. 402, 316 P.3d 1091 (2013); State v. Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d 153, 307 P.3d 712 (2013); State v. Morfin-Camacho, 174 Wn. App. 1051 (2013); State v. Anguiano-Alcazar, 169 Wn. App. 1019 (2012); State v. Rivas, 168 Wn. App. 882, 890, 278 P.3d 686, 691 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1007 (2013); State v. Burns, 163 Wn. App. 1030 (2011); State v. O'Grady, 163 Wn. App. 1003 (2011); State v. Michael, 160 Wn. App. 522, 247 P.3d

842, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1015 (2011); State v. Lira, 159 Wn. App. 1010 (2011); State v. Siers, 158 Wn. App. 686, 244 P.3d 15 (2010); State v. Naillieux, 158 Wn. App. 630, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010); State v. Brown, 169 Wn.2d 195, 234 P.3d 212 (2010); State v. Barberi, 155 Wn. App. 1045 (2010); State v. Gouley, 150 Wn. App. 1060 (2009); State v. Marin, 150 Wn. App. 434, 208 P.3d 1184, , review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1012 (2009); State v. I.A.O., 150 Wn. App. 1006 (2009).

Of these reversals, in only a single case, *State v. Holcomb*, did the Court find prejudice to the defense. Thus, in just 15 years, the trial courts and the State have had to retry 43 cases without there have been any showing that the defendant was denied a fair trial. This is a cost to taxpayers and crime victims that is without any conceivable justification.

² Many of these cases are unpublished and a number are from before March 1, 2013. *See* GR 14.1(a). However, the State does not cite them for persuasive authority. It cites them only to demonstrate the number of cases that the appellate courts have considered under *Kjorsvik*.

Perhaps even more demonstrative of why *Kjorsvik* is both incorrect and harmful is the number of *Kjorsvik* claims the appellate courts have rejected. These cases highlight how *Kjorsvik* is seen by the defense as an ace up the sleeve. Shockingly, in just the last 10 years, the appellate courts considered over 120 meritless *Kjorsvik* claims. *State v. Hansen*, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 2024 WL 194808 (2024); State v. Creekmore, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 2024 WL 123545 (2024); State v. Filippini, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 2023 WL 8771705 (2023); State v. Shields, Wn. App. 2d , 2023 WL 6549733 (2023), review denied, 542 P.3d 583 (2024); State v. Kriger, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 2023 WL 6442528 (2023), review denied, 542 P.3d 579 (2024); State v. Bell, ___ Wn. App. 2d ____, 2023 WL 6388244 (2023); State v. Winger, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1005, review denied, 537 P.3d 1027 (2023); State v. Faulkner, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1026 (2023); State v. Etue, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1014, review denied, 528 P.3d 360 (2023); State v.

Chambers, 23 Wn. App. 2d 917, 518 P.3d 649 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1030 (2023); State v. Olson, 23 Wn. App. 2d 1022 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1030 (2023); State v. Jones, 23 Wn. App. 2d 1011 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1024 (2023); State v. Bianchi, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1047, review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1007 (2022); State v. Boudrieau, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1038, review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1026 (2022); State v. Canela, 199 Wn.2d 321, 505 P.3d 1166 (2022); State v. Yaffee, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1011, review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1024 (2022); State v. Hamilton, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1010, review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1027 (2022); In re Turner, 20 Wn. App. 2d 1062 (2022); State v. Clay, 19 Wn. App. 2d 1018 (2021); State v. Hackett, 18 Wn. App. 2d 1065 (2021); State v. Peters, 17 Wn. App. 2d 522, 486 P.3d 925 (2021); State v. Derri, 17 Wn. App. 2d 376, 486 P.3d 901 (2021), aff'd, 199 Wn.2d 658 (2022); State v. B.J.N., 16 Wn. App. 2d 1060 (2021); State v. Maulolo, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1050 (2021); State v. Stewart, 16 Wn. App. 2d

1041 (2021); State v. Poor, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1020 (2020); State v. Riklon, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1009 (2020); State v. Brennan, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1060 (2020); Sidorko v. State, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1046 (2020); State v. Moreno, 14 Wn. App. 2d 143, 470 P.3d 507 (2020), aff'd, 198 Wn.2d 737 (2021); State v. Kinley, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1001 (2020); State v. Kazulin, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1088 (2020); State v. Pemberton, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1087 (2020); State v. Amos, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1040 (2020); State v. Geisen, 12 Wn. App. 2d 1072 (2020); State v. Heutink, 12 Wn. App. 2d 336, 458 P.3d 796 (2020); State v. Archer, 11 Wn. App. 2d 1018 (2019); State v. Alvarez, 11 Wn. App. 2d 1005 (2020); In re Wilkins, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1045 (2019); State v. Rene-Gomez, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1036, (2019); State v. Hinkson, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1024 (2019); State v. Alltus, 10 Wn. App. 2d 193, 447 P.3d 572 (2019); State v. Griffin, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1001 (2019); State v. Melland, 9 Wn. App. 2d 786, 452 P.3d 562 (2019); State v. Phillips, 9 Wn. App. 2d 368, 444 P.3d 51, review denied, 194

Wn.2d 1007 (2019); State v. Mulroy, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1077 (2019); State v. Smith, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1053 (2019); State v. Merritt, 200 Wn. App. 398, 402 P.3d 862 (2017), aff'd, 193 Wn.2d 70 (2019); State v. Trent, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1049 (2019); State v. Avalos, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1045 (2019); State v. Garay, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1039 (2019); State v. Warlick, 5 Wn. App. 2d 1039 (2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1020 (2019); State v. Williams, 5 Wn. App. 2d 1027 (2018); State v. Chavez, 4 Wn. App 2d 1080, review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1007 (2018); State v. Negrete, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1018 (2018); State v. K.M., 2 Wn. App. 2d 1046, review denied, 190 Wn.2d 1029 (2018); State v. Galvan-Serrano, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1029 (2018); State v. Ibrahim, 200 Wn. App. 1025 (2017), review denied, 190 Wn.2d 1010 (2018); State v. Padilla, 198 Wn. App. 1049 (2017), reversed on other grounds, 190 Wn.2d 672 (2018); State v. Espinoza-Reyes, 198 Wn. App. 1041, review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1013 (2017); State v. Rezene, 198 Wn. App. 1030 (2017); State v.

Hernandez, 198 Wn. App. 1019 (2017); State v. Jordan, 198 Wn. App. 1010, review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1022 (2017); State v. Parks, 198 Wn. App. 1007 (2017); State v. Delgado, 197 Wn. App. 1079, review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1014 (2017); State v. Watkins, 197 Wn. App. 1063 (2017); State v. Aquino, 197 Wn. App. 1041, review denied, 188 Wn.2d 1010 (2017); State v. Tolman, 196 Wn. App. 1074 (2016); State v. Perry, 196 Wn. App. 1037 (2016); State v. Donnette-Sherman, 196 Wn. App. 1038 (2016); State v. Hughes, 196 Wn. App. 1041 (2016); State v. Flores-Rodriguez, 196 Wn. App. 1033 (2016); State v. Ollison, 196 Wn. App. 1002 (2016); State v. Bowen, 195 Wn. App. 1043 (2016); State v. Goss, 189 Wn. App. 571, 358 P.3d 436 (2015), aff'd, 186 Wn.2d 372 (2016); State v. Porter, 186 Wn.2d 85, 375 P.3d 664 (2016); State v. Jenson, 194 Wn. App. 900, 378 P.3d 270 (2016); State v. Correa, 194 Wn. App. 1017 (2016); State v. Botello-Garcia, 193 Wn. App. 1037 (2016); State v. Allen, 193 Wn. App. 1034 (2016); State v. Stewart, 193

Wn. App. 1034 (2016); State v. Oleson, 193 Wn. App. 1018 (2016); State v. Grant, 192 Wn. App. 1067 (2016); State v. Taylor, 192 Wn. App. 1035 (2016); State v. Garoutte, 192 Wn. App. 1029, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1002 (2016); State v. Buurman, 191 Wn. App. 1044 (2015); State v. King, 191 Wn. App. 1036 (2015), review granted and remanded on other grounds, 185 Wn.2d 1025 (2016); State v. Parker, 190 Wn. App. 1037 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1026 (2016); State v. Lister, 189 Wn. App. 1040 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1019, cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 545 (2016); State v. Chacon, 189 Wn. App. 1013 (2015); State v. Hoefler, 189 Wn. App. 1001 (2015); State v. Larson, 188 Wn. App. 1028, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1015 (2015); State v. Parker, 188 Wn. App. 1001, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1022 (2015); State v. Shelley, 187 Wn. App. 1040 (2015); State v. Duggins, 187 Wn. App. 1030 (2015); State v. Irish, 186 Wn. App. 1040, review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1023 (2015); State v. Sharples, 186 Wn. App. 1004

(2015); State v. Cornwell, 186 Wn. App. 1006, review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1019 (2015); State v. Filitaula, 185 Wn. App. 1044, review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1016 (2015); State v. Johnson, 185 Wn. App. 655, 342 P.3d 338, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1012 (2015); State v. Pierce, 185 Wn. App. 1037 (2015); State v. Pittman, 185 Wn. App. 614, 341 P.3d 1024, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1021 (2015); State v. Bunker, 185 Wn. App. 1021 (2015); State v. Lawson, 185 Wn. App. 349, 340 P.3d 979 (2014), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 1177 (2016); State v. Cartmell, 184 Wn. App. 1035 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1025 (2015); State v. Hoang, 184 Wn. App. 1035 (2014); State v. Castillo, 184 Wn. App. 1025 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1023 (2015); State v. Stoker, 184 Wn. App. 1014 (2014); State v. Johnson, 183 Wn. App. 1030 (2014); State v. Grijalva, 183 Wn. App. 1021 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1007 (2015); State v. Campbell, 183 Wn. App. 1021 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1010 (2015); State v. Wallace, 183 Wn. App. 1023

(2014); State v. Darling, 182 Wn. App. 1041, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1026 (2014); State v. Douglas, 182 Wn. App. 1039, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1026 (2014); State v. Phelps, 181 Wn. App. 1034 (2014), review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1030 (2015); State v. Goe, 181 Wn. App. 1010 (2014); State v. Horner, 180 Wn. App. 1048 (2014); State v. Hargraves, 180 Wn. App. 1024 (2014); State v. Sanders, 180 Wn. App. 1019 (2014), review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1015 (2015); In re Leck, 180 Wn. App. 492, 334 P.3d 1109, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1008 (2014); State v. Carpenter, 179 Wn. App. 1029, review granted and remanded on other grounds,181 Wn.2d 1013 (2014); State v. Walksontop, 179 Wn. App. 1022, review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1017 (2014); State v. Moore, 179 Wn. App. 1006 (2014); State v. J.M.M., 178 Wn. App. 1040 (2014); State v. R.R.T., 178 Wn. App. 1043 $(2014)^3$

³ Again, many of these cases are unpublished, but are not being cited as authority.

In most of the foregoing cases the defendants did not even allege prejudice. However, a showing of prejudice is a reasonable requirement. Every criminal defendant has the right to representation by counsel. Plainly one of counsel's most essential duties is to determine what the State must prove and how the defendant will meet that proof. Indeed, evaluating the charging document was one of the essential tasks for which the United States Supreme Court found defendants needed counsel:

If charged with crime, he is incapable, generally, of determining for himself whether the indictment is good or bad.

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 345, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963) (quoting Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 69, 53 S. Ct. 55, 77 L. Ed. 158 (1932)).

Yet the rule in *Kjorsvik* essentially presumes that counsel failed in this basic duty if the State mistakenly omits a single element of the charge. This is directly contrary to the rule in *Strickland*, which presumes that counsel was effective unless

shown otherwise. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Notably, the *Kjorsvik* rule traces its lineage to *Hagner v. United States*, 285 U.S. 427, 52 S. Ct. 417, 76 L. Ed. 861 (1932),⁴ a decision that predates the U.S. Supreme Court's mandate of universal appointed counsel by nearly 30 years.

It is time for a rule that reflects modern criminal procedure. The State does not suggest that the right to be informed of the charges should not be enforceable on appeal. It merely asks that as with other constitutional rights, the defendant should seek his or her remedy first in the trial court. And if the defendant fails to do so, he or she should be required to show prejudice before having his or her conviction vacated.

Thirty years of experience shows that the *Kjorsvik* rule has failed to curb the abusive sandbagging it was intended to forestall. It is therefore harmful and incorrect and should be

⁴ *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 104.

overturned. In its place this Court should instead require defendants to meet the requirements of RAP 2.5, as is the case with most other constitutional claims raised for the first time on appeal.

Under the standards set forth in RAP 2.5 and the cases interpreting that provision, the court below did not even consider whether Crump suffered prejudice. As discussed in earlier briefing, none is apparent. The State respectfully asks that review be granted and the decision of the Court of Appeals be reversed and remanded for further proceedings.⁵

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court grant review and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals.

⁵ Similar issues are raised in *State v. Merritt*, No. 102679-0.

VII. CERTIFICATION

This document contains 4453 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.