FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/26/2024 4:22 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102842-3

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

CHRISTOPHER CRUMP,

Respondent.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WALLA WALLA COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER PETRONI Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

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

D. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals's opinion does not contradict this Court's precedent.

A charging document must allege each essential element of the charged crime. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 98. This includes non-statutory elements. *Id.* at 101–02; *State v. Vanderpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). If an element does not appear in the information or cannot be inferred by fair construction, it is deficient and must be dismissed. *State v. McCarty*, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 296 (2000); *State v. Quismundo*, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 342 (2008).

To prove Mr. Crump guilty of possessing a stolen motor vehicle, the prosecution had to prove he

(1) possessed a stolen vehicle; (2) knew he possessed the vehicle; and (3) knew the vehicle was stolen. RCW 9A.56.068(1); *Level*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 59–60. The knowledge requirement is a non-statutory element.

Level, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 60.

The charge against Mr. Crump alleged he "did unlawfully possess a stolen motor vehicle," without expressly alleging he knowingly possessed the vehicle or knew it was stolen. CP 38. In *Level*, the Court of Appeals held an information containing identical language was insufficient. 19 Wn. App. 2d 59, 63. The Court of Appeals adhered to *Level* and directed the trial court to dismiss the charge. Slip op. at 4–5.

Now, the prosecution argues the Court of Appeals's straightforward application of Level is

contrary to this Court's decision in *Porter*. Pet. for Rev. at 6–9. As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, "[t]he State is wrong." Slip op. at 4.

At issue in *Porter* was whether the information must allege the entire statutory definition of "possessing stolen property" contained in RCW 9A.56.140(1). 186 Wn.2d at 90 (alteration omitted). According to this Court, the answer is no—the allegation Mr. Porter "did unlawfully and feloniously *knowingly* possess a stolen motor vehicle" provided sufficient notice of the essential elements. *Id.* at 88, 91–92 (emphasis added).

As the Court of Appeals correctly reasoned,

Porter "did not hold that an information need not allege a nonstatutory element." Slip op. at 4. Indeed,

Porter noted the information "alleged that Porter knowingly possessed property he knew to be stolen" in

concluding "the information sufficiently articulated the essential elements of the crime." 186 Wn.2d at 92 (emphasis added).

Appellate courts, including this Court, often hold knowledge is an implied element of a possession offense. See State v. Anderson, 141 Wn.2d 357, 362–63, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000) (knowledge is an implied element of unlawful possession of a firearm). Failure to do so risks punishing passive, innocent conduct, which may violate due process. Id. at 366; State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 173, 481 P.3d 521 (2021).

The Court of Appeals's recognition in *Level* that knowledge is an implied, non-statutory element of possessing a stolen vehicle does not contradict this Court's holding in *Porter* that statutory definitions of essential elements need not be alleged in the information. This Court should deny review.

2. *Kjorsvik* is an essential safeguard of the constitutional right to notice and is neither incorrect nor harmful.

"Accused persons have the constitutional right to know the charges against them." State v. Pry, 194 Wn.2d 745, 751, 452 P.3d 536 (2019) (citing U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22). The "essential element rule" of *Kjorsvik* vindicates this right by requiring prosecutors to allege all facts necessary to prove the charged crime in the information. *Id.*; accord Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 101–02. When an accused person challenges the information for the first time on appeal, courts construe the allegations liberally—"if the necessary facts appear in any form, or by a fair construction can be found within the terms of the charge, then the charging document will be upheld on appeal." Kjorsvik, 117 Wn. 2d at 104-05.

Contrary to the prosecution's petition, *Kjorsvik* is perfectly consistent with RAP 2.5(a)(3). Pet. for Rev. at 10–11. Constitutional error is "manifest" within that rule's meaning if "the error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review." *State v.*O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99–100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). If the information is so completely lacking that a missing element does not appear even by liberal construction, the error is obvious enough to be manifest. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105. RAP 2.5(a)(3) does *not* require a showing of prejudice within the meaning of a harmless error analysis. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99.

Kjorsvik's deferential standard makes a concrete difference. For example, in State v. Derri, 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022), this Court held the use of force or fear "to obtain or retain possession of the property" was an essential element of robbery and not

merely a definition of element. *Id.* at 696. The Court upheld the information anyway because this element, though absent in express terms, appeared by fair construction of the allegations. *Id.* at 696–97 (citing *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 101).

The prosecution fails to grasp the significance of the numbers it cites. If the Court of Appeals has reversed convictions in roughly 40 cases in the last 15 years, that means the prosecution has *omitted an essential element* from the information in each of those cases. Pet. for Rev. at 12–15. Rather than accuse defense attorneys of "abusive sandbagging," the prosecution should examine why prosecutors so often file deficient charging documents. *Id.* at 25.

That defense arguments based on *Kjorsvik* fail three times as often as they succeed is unremarkable.

Pet. for Rev. at 16–24. As the undersigned knows all

too well, most criminal appeals end in affirmance. See Michael Heise, Federal Criminal Appeals: A Brief Empirical Perspective, 93 Marq. L. Rev. 825, 829–30 (2009) (discussing affirmance rate in federal criminal appeals). That defense attorneys make the attempt anyway is a sign of zealous representation of their clients and in no way improper.

The prosecution has no one to blame but itself for the outcome here. In August 2021, in a published opinion, the Court of Appeals held an allegation that an accused person "did unlawfully possess a stolen motor vehicle" failed to allege all elements of the offense. *Level*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 59, 63. In September 2021, and again in October 2021 and March 2022, the prosecution alleged Mr. Crump "did unlawfully possess a stolen motor vehicle." CP 6, 8–9, 38. Had the

prosecution kept up with case-law developments, it would not have made this mistake.

The prosecution has not shown $\mathit{Kjorsvik}$ is incorrect and harmful. This Court should deny review.

E. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

Per RAP 18.17(c)(10), the undersigned certifies this answer contains 1,555 words.